

Peter McKenzie Project*

Options paper: Narrowing the focus

October 2013, Janet Digby Abridged version for external use

*This project was known as Toby until the 22nd of November 2013

Contents

Contents
Background and purpose4
Social Change
Trust-specific considerations
Tapping into collective wisdom
Our best understanding of what the future might hold 11
A summary of findings from the literature and interview process
Further detail in key areas
Complexity
Focusing upstream
Research and evaluation23
An umbrella issue for Toby
Child poverty as an umbrella issue for Toby25
Arguments against adopting child poverty as an issue for Toby
Concluding comments
The options
Glossary
Appendix Two: Process for data collection and analysis
Appendix Six: More detail on spend-down
Endnotes

Background and purpose

The Jayar Charitable Trust (JCT) was established to invest funds for future distribution into the community through the JR McKenzie Trust (JRMT). Since it was established in 1997, Jayar has not contributed a great deal of funds to the JRMT to support its philanthropic aims, in part as in some years the income from the Trust was not sufficient to allow distributions to be made.

Inspired by the late Peter McKenzie, who had a large hand in setting up JCT and was its Chair until 2011, the JCT and the J R McKenzie Trustees have jointly agreed to spend Jayar's capital and income over approximately 20 years. The JCT's funds are to be invested in a specific programme or area of focus with appropriate evaluation, to achieve visible, measurable positive social change. This project has been given an interim name of 'Toby'.

"This scale of investment in a single project or area could have a really significant impact, generating a much greater 'social return on investment' than could be achieved by continuing the present strategy." Peter McKenzie

The JRMT's vision for 'a socially just and inclusive Aotearoa New Zealand' provides the parameters for Toby, and it has been decided that the project should focus on 'disadvantaged children and their families'.

A Working Group has been formed to guide Toby and a developmental evaluation has begun. At this time, the Working Group sees activities for the project falling into five broad phases of work, which are described below. This report informs decisions to be made at the end of Stage 2 of the project, 'Initial scoping'.

- 1. Preparation (Completed)
- 2. Initial scoping (Completed)
- 3. Decide specific focus and the approaches to be used (Underway)
- 4. Design
- 5. Implementation (Scheduled to be complete by ≈ February 2034 at the latest)

This abridged version of the paper

This document is an abridged and amended version of the options paper which was provided to the Working Group and the JRMT Board to inform their decision making processes. Commentary explaining this abridged version of the document is shown in green (like this text) to distinguish it from the original text.

Executive Summary

Purpose and process

The J R McKenzie Trust (JRMT) is in the process of establishing a new project with the interim name of 'Toby'. This project aims to achieve social change through a focus on disadvantaged children and their families. Conceived by Peter McKenzie, the project will <u>spend-down</u> a fund associated with the Trust, the Jayar Charitable Trust (JCT), over a period of up to 20 years.

After a brief formation stage, the project's Working Group is now examining how it can narrow Toby's current very broad scope to an area or approach. A paper was developed to outline a set of broad options as part an initial scoping phase for the project.

This document brings together information from a number of sources to inform the Toby Working Group. Sources included interviews with about 50 informants and a review of relevant literature. Detail of how information was collected and analysed can be found in Appendix 2 on page 30 of this report.

Findings

Findings for this scoping stage of the Toby project have been split into a number of sections, beginning with a definition of the project's goal - social change, and its key drivers. A short glossary of key terms used within this report can be found on page 29.

Trust-specific considerations

The role of Trust-specific factors should be weighed carefully in the decision process as the selection of a good option for the project will need to consider the option's fit with the Trust's legacy, interests and with characteristics of the spend down approach.

Trust-specific considerations are examined, such as the principles for the Project (agreed by the Toby Working Group and Board), criteria for decision making (agreed by the Toby Working Group) and the Trust's features and interests. This examination shows that JRMT (and therefore the Toby project) is less constrained than many other funders and that the Trust has an strong legacy of focusing on early intervention, particularly for those who are marginalised, in an attempt to reduce future need for philanthropy. *Trust specific considerations can be found from page 10.*

The <u>spend-down</u> approach selected for the Toby project places more value on funds invested today than funds invested tomorrow. This contrasts with a perpetual funding model, which values the protection of the capital of an endowment to enable funds to be distributed in the long-term. A spend-down approach is well suited to projects which are time-bound, would benefit from additional scale and security of funding, and have the potential to deliver high social returns on investment.

The Toby project will have considerably more funding available to it over its timeframe than it would if the fund were retained in an endowment. While the amount available for Toby is considerable for the Trust, it is important to remember that this amount is still small compared to amounts spent by government or charitable spending in New Zealand.

Tapping into collective wisdom

In addition to examining Trust-specific considerations this document also brings together collective wisdom from a number of sources - particularly from interviews with selected individuals and a review of relevant literature. A summary of what the future might hold, another important consideration in the Trust's choice, is also described.

The research conducted to inform development of this paper was significant, but necessarily limited. Even with Toby's total budget it would be impossible to fully research every social need and every possible solution in an attempt to find 'the right' focus for the project. The inside covers of this report illustrate only a small sample of issues and options which may be relevant to a project like Toby. The list of possibilities is almost infinite, and it isn't practical to develop expertise in all areas which may become the project's focus.

Rather, this process relies on those with knowledge (informants and authors of relevant literature) to give us a sense of where suitable opportunities may exist and also to provide important considerations which might be useful for the project. Detail of how information was collected and analysed can be found in Appendix 2 on page 30 of this report.

Informants were generally very positive about the Toby concept and the Trust. While there were a great number of suggestions a set of themes emerged and these are described from page 12. Some key differences of opinion between informants and within the literature are also described.

A great deal of discussion with informants focused on the pitfalls of working to achieve complex social change. Respected writers in this area suggest that the ways we are used to working with simple problems do not apply – that there is no easy 'answer'. They suggest there is a need to be patient and tenacious, learn to fail well, and use an experimental approach to working with these issues (i.e. try, fail, try, fail, try).

Generally, informants and the literature favoured the challenge of a complex social problem, the prioritisation of appropriate monitoring, research and evaluation, and a strategy for helping initiatives to spread to achieve greater impact. Many expressed a preference for Toby to work <u>upstream</u> although it is useful to keep in mind there are challenges associated with this work. Informants believed that the timeframe for Toby should be led by the project area chosen, and that Toby shouldn't rush a decision or spread its resources too thinly.

Options

A large number of suggestions for Toby were offered by informants and the reviewed literature. These were narrowed to three options. **These options all fit within an umbrella issue of reducing child poverty.**

Key reasons for a focus on child poverty include that this topic:

- is a complex issue and is therefore more suited to the Toby timeframe and budget;
- is a real problem of considerable urgency, affecting a large number of children and having a significant range of short, medium and long term consequences;
- amplifies other disadvantages influencing wellbeing, such as disability;
- places a disproportionate burden on Māori and Pasifika communities and on other key groups;
- has significant effects on our economy and requires preventative efforts for amelioration;
- seems to have a 'weak tide' of opinion supporting change, a tide which needs strengthening;
- is one where people believe progress is possible; and
- is well-aligned with the Trust's vision and legacy, and meets the criteria for the project and its principles.

While no-one is suggesting the Toby Project will be able to eradicate child poverty, with careful narrowing it is hoped that the project could help support a sustained shift in a well-defined area. Please keep in mind that there are no 'right' answers for this project, this is not a wholly technical process. Rather the focus is on finding an area or areas which are a good fit for the project's parameters and for the Trust. A more detailed rationale for the selection of this issue begins on page 25.

A large number of suggestions for Toby were offered by informants and the reviewed literature. These were narrowed to three options.

Conclusions

The Toby Committee considered the original version of this paper and made recommendations to the Board. The Board then determined the following parameters for further scoping in the next stage of the project:

Reducing child poverty should be the overall focus for the project

Within this umbrella issue, the following approaches are to be further investigated:

1. Lifting the importance of investing in children to one of national value: This option relates to changing the conversations New Zealanders have about investing in children, increasing the value we place on such investments and on preventing future need, and thereby giving policy makers greater permission to support policies which will benefit these children. Success at this task has the potential to positively affect all other work being done to support children in poverty.

2. A collaborative initiative(s) in a geographic area: This initiative would centre on one or more chosen geographic communities, and would see the Trust fund a project focused on achieving 'collective impact'. Collaborative initiatives are notoriously difficult, but involving a diverse group of people (including those 'living the problem') in working on issues of common interest is one approach to creating sustained change.

One or some combination of these two approaches may be adopted for the project after further investigation during phase three of the Toby project which will be completed by the end of October 2014. Only then will a programme of activities be designed; this may include a call for proposals but this has yet to be determined.

This project's name was changed from Toby to the Peter McKenzie Project in November 2013.

Acknowledgements

The author of this report would like to thank the Toby Working Group (chaired by Neville Caird), members of the JRMT Board and an impressive list of informants for their support of, and guidance for, the Toby project during its second phase.

She also gratefully acknowledges the special contributions made by Iain Hines and Sam Caldwell for their support and feedback during this scoping phase of the project, and of the evaluator, Kathryn Nemec.

With people like these involved in the project it has a very strong foundation for success.

Social Change

Defining social change

The Toby Project aims to achieve positive social change. Various definitions of social change have been proposed but for the purposes of this document, we will consider social change to be:

*"…any significant alteration over time in behaviour, patterns and cultural values and norms. By "significant" alteration, sociologists mean changes yielding profound social consequences*¹*.*

With respect to the Toby project, this social change will be targeted at progress towards 'a socially just and inclusive Aotearoa New Zealand' through a focus on disadvantaged children, young people and their families. Within this context, social change may involve changes in attitudes, behaviours, laws, policies, practices and institutions to better reflect values of fairness, inclusion, diversity, wellbeing and opportunity.

The creation social change is inherently complex and takes time, with results being difficult to measure and attribute to particular efforts^{2,3}. This kind of change often requires agents to overcome political and organisational influences which attempt to retain the status-quo.

Drivers of social change

A number of drivers of social change have been described by social scientists and change agents. The table below categorises types of activities which could be funded by the JRMT, providing examples of mechanisms for change and targets. Words in brackets in the activities column indicate those used in the JRMT Strategy (2010-2014), labelled there as 'what we will do'⁴.

The Trust could fund any or all of these types of activities, preferring to undertake some of the work itself or funding work by existing organisations or organisations created for this project. It is also worth noting that these activities are not exclusive. For example, work focused on item 3, 'learning', may also lead into or be done in conjunction with 'advocacy'.

Act	tivities	Examples of mechanisms	Examples of targets	
1.	Providing direct funding to increase impact through service provision (fund)	 'Bright spots'⁵, to help sustain, build or grow their impact Grant rounds 	Programmes, initiatives or activities	
2.	Funding to undertake collaborative efforts to achieve impact (convene)	 Collaborative efforts to create change, build relationships (This may also involve service provision) 	Sectors, geographic communities, networks, stakeholder groups, local and central government agencies	
3.	Funding to develop knowledge, a new product or service (learn)	 Research to understand a problem, its costs or benefits Evaluation of what works with respect to policy and service provision Development of critical success factors 	Programmes, initiatives, policies, philanthropists, social entrepreneurs	
4.	Funding the provision of information to educate or advocate on a specific issue (advocate)	 Policy change Priorities, behaviours Attitudes, values, perceptions 	Public, politicians, groups, regions, communities, public servants	

In addition to examining options from the perspective of the Trust and activities funded, options can also be categorised by looking at their strategic focus. Leadbetter and Wong describe options in this way, giving examples within the education field, and categorising them as either improving on what exists, reinventing an area of focus, supplementing what exists, or transforming the sector/area⁶. We will come back to these types of categories when we examine the proposed options for Toby later in this document.

	Formal	Informal
Sustaining innovation	IMPROVE	SUPPLEMENT
Disruptive innovation	REINVENT	TRANSFORM

Barriers to social change

In recent years there has been a shift in focus for some change efforts, away from attempts to drive social change through government and institutions, towards the creation of change through communities. A more open approach to change has also been proposed, drawing on success from the technology sector which has focused on development of 'learning networksⁱ', drawing on knowledge from other fields and incorporating the end user in design in a more meaningful way.

Leadbetter and Wong echo this sentiment in their discussion of problems facing education by suggesting that a focus on improving existing systems will be insufficient in breaking the 'ingrained cultures of low aspiration and ambition' that underlie persistent inequalities in educational performance'. Rather they suggest a focus on supplementing school systems, reinventing schools and transforming learning⁷.

Chalmers has identified three key barriers to social innovation:

- *Issues relating to complexity*: Addressing complex social challenges requires cooperation across boundaries. Cultures and structures make this difficult and as a result solutions may be incomplete and therefore ineffective as they focus on symptoms rather than causes.
- Inertia, mixed intentions and low appetite for risk: Don't assume that everyone has the common drive to find the best solution to social problems. People have different agendas and some of these reinforce compartmentalised ways of thinking and behaving. Funders (including governments and philanthropists) tend to focus on incremental change due to their low appetite for risk.
- *Existing networks*: Social innovators struggle to make meaningful connections to existing networks because their issues don't fit with established agendas they are too messy and too large⁸.

ⁱ Such as Cisco's Learning Network

Trust-specific considerations

It might be tempting to think the question of what Toby might focus would mostly hinge on external factors (e.g. what area has the greatest need of support), but a large part of this decision relies on an examination of internal variables associated with the Trust, asking the question "What Trust-specific considerations are important and what does this tell us about where Toby might focus its efforts?".

This section looked at this question in detail, specifically through an examination of:

- The Trust's principles, features, interests for example as an independent funder, JRMT faces fewer constraints than many other funding organisations. The values (both explicit and implicit) in its legacy are also important to consider. (thought leadership, independence)
- Characteristics of the fund for example a spend-down approach concentrates attention on making a difference within a set time frame; yet paradoxically, the long-term nature of this particular opportunity (compared with most funding horizons) enables us to consider what will make a <u>long-term</u> difference.

Tapping into collective wisdom

The previous section examined factors relating to the Trust which should be considered in the process of narrowing our options. Now we will consider the external factors associated with selection of the focus and approach for the project. What have we learnt from interviews and literature about how we might narrow our focus?

This section attempts to answer this question, specifically through an examination of:

- Our best understanding of what the future might hold (demographics, economy, work, education)
- Findings from our interview process and from the literature reviewed (detail of how information was collected and analysed can be found in Appendix 2 which begins on page 30 of this report)

The problem of an infinite universe

It is important to remember that even using the full budget for Toby, it wouldn't be possible to fully research every social need and every possible solution in an attempt to find 'the right' focus for the project. The inside covers of this report illustrate just a sample of issues and options which may be relevant to a project like Toby. The list of possibilities is almost infinite, and it isn't practical to develop expertise in all areas which may become our focus.

As a result, our process cannot be entirely scientific in its methods, rather it relies on those with knowledge (informants and authors of relevant literature) to provide us with some understanding of where to look for some appropriate options and which considerations might be important for this project. In this sense we are 'tapping into collective wisdom'.

Our best understanding of what the future might hold

Predicting the future is, unsurprisingly, difficult. However, given Toby's relatively long term, it is useful to look at what the future may hold for New Zealand, in order that we can minimise the chance we end up 'swimming against the tide' in terms of the approach or areas chosen for its focus.

Below are some selected trends as predicted by social scientists and futurists. These come from a number of sources, including Statistics New Zealand⁹, a recent TIME magazine article¹⁰ on the future of work, and a recent Massey University Publication on the future of New Zealand¹¹.

Our people

- New Zealand's population will continue to grow and will contain a greater proportion of Māori and Pasifika peoples
- New Zealand's population is aging, although Māori, Pacific and Asian populations will be younger on average than their European counterparts
- More of us won't be born in New Zealand

Our economy

- Health costs will be considerably higher
- Tax revenues will be strained due to our older population and this will place additional strain on government funds

Our work

- Work is likely to be less secure, with more contractors and fewer New Zealanders in jobs with guaranteed hours
- More older people will stay in the workforce for longer to fund their retirements
- Technology will play an ever-increasing role within society including job creation

- Job growth in aged care and education is likely to be strong
- Women will share more in the power there will be more women professionals and more women with higher qualifications
- People will be employed in sectors which don't yet exist, doing roles which we can't yet imagine
- · Collaboration and creativity will be important skills

Our education

• Informal and alternative approaches to education will play an increasing role

A summary of findings from the literature and interview process

A large part of this scoping phase of the Toby project involved speaking with people and reviewing relevant literature. (Further information about the process for analysis is contained in Appendix Two: which begins on page 30. Literature can also be browsed by clicking on this link.)

The purpose of the interviews and literature review process was to seek advice from a range of people on what approaches or areas might be suited to Toby and the JRMT. Findings are presented around key themes below, with some indication of the strength of support for these themes indicated by use of symbols.

Topics in the tables following which were supported by informants are shown with solid green diamonds while those with support from the literature are shown with outlined purple diamonds. The number of diamonds shown for a specific topic denotes the level of support, so five diamonds denotes a very commonly expressed view whereas one diamond denotes a less commonly expressed view.

Interviews with informants were conversational with a semi-structured foundation enabling interviewees to express what was important to them. As a result, not all informants covered the same ground in their interviews, so just because one informant didn't express support for a particular view, doesn't mean they held a contrary view. Equally, missing purple diamonds don't necessarily imply that the literature didn't support a particular viewpoint; just that the literature reviewed didn't focus on this issue. Conflicting viewpoints which were identified are described following the tables.

Comments on the JRMT

Before describing the themes which have been identified, it is worth noting that a number of informants offered their thoughts, unsolicited, about the Trust and its work. Those who expressed such views spoke about the Trust in very positive terms.

Labels such as 'thought leadership' and 'the most adventurous funder in New Zealand' were used. They made comments about the bravery of the Trust in embarking on a project such as Toby, due to the spend-down nature of the project, its term, and the size of the fund.

Key general themes

Area	Key point	Further detail – general themes
Excitement about the project	Informants were enthusiastic about Toby	The generosity with which informants approached the interview process was obvious and was likely the result of their high level of enthusiasm for the project and positive views of the JRMT.
		Many people spoke with us for longer than they had scheduled (in one case two hours longer) and all but two or three informants were visibly excited about the project. Many subjects emailed or followed up after the interview with further thoughts and information and many told us they enjoyed the conversation.
		"Thanks for the loveliest moment of thinking about what the new possibilities might be. Nicest feeling I could imagine." Informant
		This positive view of Toby was reflected in number of respondents who contacted us, even weeks or months after their interviews to suggest further people we could talk to, information sources and ideas.
Choice	The importance of picking something	It is important to choose an area which fits the values and interests of the Working Group and Trustees ¹² .
	which has good fit with the Trust ♦♦♦ ♦	A number of informants with experience in philanthropy were clear that this was one of the most important considerations for the Trust, particularly given the lengthy proposed timeframe for Toby.
	Don't rush to select a focus and define the problem carefully	The process for narrowing the options should not be rushed, and there should be a thorough and careful process used to define the issue of focus for Toby.
	\diamond	There is literature supporting this view - stating that failure to innovate or create breakthrough solutions which are required to address complex challenges relates to hasty definitions of the problem or issue at hand ^{13,14,15} . This view was supported by those who suggested the process for defining the issue should be rigorous and that this requires significant time.
		<i>"If I were given one hour to save the planet, I would spend 59 minutes defining the problem and one minute resolving it," Albert Einstein, cited in the Harvard Business Review</i> ¹⁶ .
Funding	Don't spread the funding too thinly	Informants were clear in their view that the fund, although large in some respects, isn't a huge amount given the types of issues the Trust may wish to be involved in.
	**	As a result, they felt strongly that it was important to choose a small area in which the Trust wanted to create change, rather than spreading the fund too thinly. Two key informants shared this view:
		"You need to be sure what you propose is well funded."
	Hold back some funding	A number of informants with experience in philanthropy noted the importance of holding back some of the funding for this type of project, as a contingency.

Area	Key point	Further detail – general themes	
Timeframe	Timeframes should be led by the needs of the initiative ↔ ↔	There was a strong view that the timeframe for the project needs to be determined by the specific focus chosen, rather than being predetermined. Project management theory supports this view. A number of informants believed that 20 years was too long, with a number suggesting 10 or 15 years as a more reasonable timeframe for the project. There was not full agreement on this issue however, with a few informants suggesting that the project should be split into 3-5 year cycles with the focus on a different initiative in each cycle.	
Retaining momentum Keep the JRM Trustees and the Toby Working Group involved A number Katharine important 		A number of informants with experience in philanthropy and key literature such as Katharine Pearson's paper about learning from the McConnell Foundation ¹⁷ noted the importance of keeping the Board and Working Group engaged with the project, and involving them in some considerable detail. The long term success and continuation of important projects such as Toby requires a level of understanding from these groups which may not be needed with simpler projects.	

Themes about types of initiative or approach

Area	Key point	Further detail – initiative or approach	
changeproblems is a difficult, lengthy process but one people are starting to understandwhere the real learning is taking place in so are to be made ('radical efficiencies'). Simp from page 20.		Informants and literature both supported the idea that problems labelled as 'complex' are where the real learning is taking place in societies around the world, and where real gains are to be made ('radical efficiencies'). Simple and complex problems are discussed further from page 20. There was a strong belief that the mislabelling problems as simple and working on them	
	\$ \$ \$ \$	as though they were simple results in ineffective solutions, making sustained progress elusive. The views of informants and literature on this issue are well developed, and demonstrate considerable learning on how to work with complex problems.	
Failure	Failing well is important ♦ ♦ ♦	t Learn how to 'fail forward' - there is no easy solution, so some things won't work. If this wasn't the case, these complex social problems would have been 'solved' already.	
Moving to a more preventative focus	Moving upstream is important yet downstream funding can be easier to obtain	The system's status quo is often set up to manage current need and focus on the short- term, not reduce future need or focus on the long-term. Many organisations are sustained by the status quo of attempts to meet current need. Politicians find it easier to work on current service delivery rather than prevention as it provides evidence they are doing work which makes a difference within an electoral cycle or two. Funders may find preventative work hard to support as it is hard to measure impact, it takes longer, and attribution is often more difficult.	

Area	Key point	Further detail – initiative or approach	
Voices	Importance of diverse voices	A number of informants commented on the value and challenges of having a diverse range of voices commenting on society, decision making and policy. Difficulties associated with NGOs having their voices heard by government were also raised ¹⁸ . Politicisation of public discussions about issues affecting children was also frequently mentioned by informants as a problem, one which detracts from the real issues and stifles real dialogue.	
Existing initiatives	There are many and they can be hard to sustain	There are many 'pockets of excellence' or 'good initiatives' operating in local communities with engaged philanthropists and committed community staff. This was seen as a sign of the high levels of energy which exist throughout society for creating positive change. Many of these pockets struggle to secure sustainable funding, even where there is reasonable evidence of success.	
Service provision	Service provision on its own isn't going to create a shift	A number of informants, including those with experience in philanthropy, suggested that organisations like JRMT can't possibly fund services for all people to fill all the gaps, forever. Philanthropy can't be expected to fill all the gaps in the system by funding service provision. This means that philanthropic organisations need to look carefully at how they can add value to the system – a great deal hinges on strongly developed intentions, providing a platform for learning and spreadability.	
Research, measurement and evaluation	Utilise evaluation & research	 The importance of appropriate research and evaluation was not in question in either the literature or the interviews with informants. Peter McKenzie was among those who noted the importance of evaluation for the Toby project. A number of informants mentioned the value of research and evaluation in social change projects, and noted that a significant proportion of service provision initiatives in New Zealand do not contain appropriate measurement, evaluation or research. <i>"There are lots of do-gooders. Everyone thinks their project is the best. Lots of money is wasted." Informant</i> While there is significant research on many social problems, there is less research on what works to alleviate these issues; the relationship between science and policy development is sometimes not strong enough. A good understanding of the costs and benefits of particular initiatives or programmes often doesn't exist – particularly where these costs or benefits accrue outside the area in which the programme operates (e.g. understanding education benefits resulting from dealing early with health problems such as poor vision or hearing.) 	
Up-scaling or spreading	Skills, processes and funding models to promote greater impact are important and lacking	Echoing sentiments from the items above, many expressed the view that Toby's challenge may not be in the creation or support of new ideas but in the learning from existing initiatives to see greater benefit for a greater number. The concept of up-scaling has been replaced in some informants' minds, and within some literature, with one of 'spreadability', meaning that understanding the critical factors for success were important to ensure initiatives could spread into new communities, rather than the idea that these initiatives should be replicated, like a franchise. There was however some caution expressed that size shouldn't be used as a proxy for	

Area	Key point	Further detail – initiative or approach	
		impact. In addition, the people suited to sustain and spread initiatives are often different from those who initiate projects – this pertains to funders and those working in the field) ¹⁹ .	
		This point relates both to a lack of research and evaluation (which can measure efficacy and identify critical success factors), and to difficulties associated with spreading initiatives.	
Collaboration	Lacking but important	Meaningful collaboration was seen as lacking but important, as this is one key way to create a shift around complex social problems. Collaborative efforts, such as those focused on a particular community, held interest for many informants.	
		Informants saw this as being particularly relevant to collaboration among and between government departments, NGOs and businesses.	
Difficult financial times	Innovation can be sparked by difficult economic times	A small number of informants and some literature suggested that difficult financial circumstances result in innovation; and that some countries (such as Canada) are far ahead of NZ with respect to social innovation as we haven't 'hit the wall' in the same way other countries have ²⁰ .	
	$\diamond\diamond$	"It would be a shame to waste a recession." Informant	
		There was also a view expressed by a number of informants that innovation used to be a regular focus of philanthropy in good times, but currently NZ philanthropic efforts are often	
		stuck in service provision, not even innovating in the good times when they have more money to spend. This was seen as a problem.	

Potential areas of focus

Informants made many suggestions about the possible areas of focus for a project such as Toby. Some of the more commonly mentioned areas can be found in the table below. The literature reviewed was in part determined by suggestions made from informants, so views from the literature are not included in this table.

Area	Key point	Further detail – potential areas of focus
Poverty and/or inequality	Significant issue which needs further support	Many informants raised this issue as a key to a prosperous, healthy, happy nation. There was a view among many that there has been some progress made on this issue, although much more work was needed to see any shift in public understanding, political will, or policy and practice. <i>"This is something which has been in [the Trust's] sights for over 20 years. It has got to be social justice and inclusion driven. But poverty has lots of groups operating there, and JRMT has put lots in there over time." Informant</i>
Public dialogue on investing in children	Quality of discussion not high	Many informants noted a lack of public dialogue on important issues such as poverty and that discussions tend to be filled with rhetoric, include a small number of views, and of poor quality.

Area	Key point	Further detail – potential areas of focus	
Public policy	Current arrangements can limit change and long-term 'whole of government' thinking. Policy is difficult to influence.	 Despite the significant public funds expended by government, contracts with service providers are focused on activities rather than outcomes, stifling innovation and making long-term thinking more difficult. The 'system' doesn't support long term thinking –it comprises a large number of silos making it difficult for ministers and public servants to focus on long term outcomes and cost reduction across the whole of government . Instead it prioritises reduction of short term risk. Many acknowledged that while public policy was a problem in many respects it was 	
		difficult to influence, particularly directly. Loss of many public servants, some long serving and with deep institutional memory, and a professional focus and agenda, was seen as a problem by a significant number of informants.	
Investing early	Importance of investing in early childhood (including pre- conception)	Many informants stressed the importance of investing in early childhood, including the months before conception, in order to give children the best start. For this work to be successful, further coordinated efforts later in childhood are also required, but these early efforts are particularly important as they are effective at reducing downstream costs and provide good value for money.	
Justice	Providing a better start for children of those involved in the justice system would be a useful focus	This area was favoured by a group of informants who felt that better understanding how to work with those in the criminal justice system would assist them, and hence their children, to improve their lives. There was a belief from some informants that justice was not being seen to be done within some communities and that this was contributing to future problems. Some might categorise work in this area as mid-stream rather than preventative.	
Education	Improving access to high quality education is a key preventative activity	 This area was strongly favoured by informants, who identified a number of issues limiting progress in this area: While overall the education system is working well for most children, significant outcome inequalities exist for children, particularly those in low decile schools as this group perform significantly worse than their higher decile counterparts A lack of evidence-based policy being implemented in education An underinvestment in early childhood and primary education for New Zealand children Issues with children not being excited by learning or reading, which results in lower engagement and impacts on outcomes 	
Employment	Training and high quality employment for young people	A number of informants suggested work with young people to reduce the high proportion of under 25's not in education, employment or training (NEETS). The focus should be on jobs with higher wages, which were more secure and provided more meaning to young people than many of the existing options.	
Parenting	Poor parenting skills and improved resilience	A number of informants suggested that working with vulnerable families to improve their parenting skills would be a worthy project for Toby. This might involve increasing families' capacity to deal with challenges.	

Tensions and incongruities

Informants expressed views on a huge variety of topics and different informants suggested different priorities for the project. There were a smaller number of topics which demonstrated tension between the views of informants or those expressed in the literature:

The service provision question

Some informants believed strongly that any Toby project should be concentrated at the grassroots and focused on service provision, while others believed equally strongly that the greater potential value was higher up the chain, in advocacy for policy change, public education or other approaches. Some informants suggested that advocacy would only work if it was linked in with grassroots service delivery. Our key informants suggested that service delivery would be useful only as a tool for providing proof of concept, and as a focus for advocacy around policy, rather than as a core focus in its own right.

Long term focus

While a large number of informants immediately liked the idea of having a long-term focus for the Toby Project and complained about the consequences of short term thinking on complex social issues, there were a number who cautioned about the optimal length of the project. A shorter length was suggested by some while a good number of others and the literature supported the idea that the *project's focus* should dictate the timeframe for the project and that the timeframe shouldn't be set in advance. This last group often suggested that having the scope for a longer project could be useful, but that setting a longer timeframe would only mean that the project takes that time, plus longer.

"So many policies and projects are short-term. It is great to see some [are] thinking longer-term." Informant

Supporting new or existing initiatives

Some informants believed strongly that to have any chance at success Toby should focus on creating something new and that in doing that, new solutions to existing problems which have not yet been resolved would be realised. On the other side, many others believed that there are many 'pockets of excellence' already in existence which struggle for sustainable funding, and that to begin something new would only make it more difficult for existing projects to become sustainable and transformative.

What are we missing?

A reasonable number of informants expressed a view that there has been enough research done on the issues raised and possible solutions that everyone should know how to make progress. Others felt more research was needed before any clear pathway forward could be taken. While to an extent this will depend on the topic in focus, there may be a difference in the types of research being discussed.

It seems that people believe many of the issues have been described in sufficient detail to understand we need to take action (e.g. the long tail of underachievement in education, child poverty, and mental health in young males) but that in some areas further research needs to be conducted on what works to ameliorate these issues in the local environment.

A small but significant number of informants felt frustrated with government (ministers and/or officials) when they feel research, inquiries or white papers are commissioned. They perceive these measures are being used as a delaying tactic by government - to obfuscate the real issue which they don't want to, or cannot, address.

Hand over responsibility

While the majority of informants believed strongly that the JRMT should play an important role in making decisions over the use of the JCT fund, one informant felt that a viable approach for the Trust was to hand over the fund to one of the major science funders such as the Health Research Council. The suggestion was that the Trust could put some parameters on how the fund could be used, but that research is inherently useful and that such a fund has strong processes in place for distributing funds in this way. This assertion was based on a view that there is not sufficient information about what works in New Zealand. This is a view not shared by all other informants and it relates to the next item.

The "my project is the one" issue

Generally, informants fell into one of two categories – those who felt their idea or initiative is the best, or those who warned us to be wary of those who said their initiative is the best, and that they had the answer.

The literature around dealing with complex problems also warned of the risks associated with buying into the idea that any single programme or initiative will be a panacea.

"Move away from everyone who says they have the answer. They are not changing the system, only filling a gap." Informant

From a distance it is easy to see that no one initiative or programme is likely to provide 'the solution' to a complex social challenge. However those committed to a particular initiative often have huge personal investment in it and sometimes these initiatives do have significant impact. They are almost forced into the 'simple solution 'argument when communicating with potential funders. Without giving compelling evidence of the potential effectiveness of their initiative why would a funder invest?

Further detail in key areas

Three key issues arising from interviews and literature are examined below, particularly to assist the Working Group develop a common language for talking about these issues, but also to help develop a deeper understanding of the issues associated with these core themes. Three of these three issues are discussed here. A fourth issue which was commonly raised, collaboration, is discussed in subsequent sections of this document.

Complexity

Many people we interviewed, and much of the literature reviewed for this paper, focused on the distinction between simple or complicated problems and those which are viewed as adaptive or complex.

It has been suggested that many of the big issues facing societies today are in this *complex* category and that as such they are even hard to define, with different groups and individuals having different, valid viewpoints on the causes of these issues and what to do about them²¹. Theory proposes that attempts to apply methods appropriate for solving simple or complicated problems to those which are in fact complex results in poor outcomes and may cause significant harm^{22,23}.

Some features of simple, complicated and complex problems are shown in the table below. These have been adapted from work done by Hiefetz and Laurie and by Westley and Patton^{24,25}.

Туре	Simple problems Other labels: small problems	Complicated problems Other labels: technical or technological problems	Complex problems/challenges Other labels: Adaptive, wicked, messy, super-messy
Features	Easy to identify No particular expertise is required The solution is repeatable with the same result each time A good set of instructions will provide information on how, what and when, but you have some latitude	Easy to identify Can often be solved by an 'expert' The solution is repeatable With the right components in place in the right way, you are certain to succeed Can be solved within boundaries Can be implemented relatively quickly People like these and are receptive to solutions	Difficult to identify Change requires changes in values, beliefs, roles, relationships and approach Those living the problem need to have a part in 'solving' it Work across boundaries is needed to make progress The idea of solving problems and this language may not be that helpful People don't like the concept and may not be able to acknowledge complex challenges even exist
Examples	Baking a cake	Getting to the moon, creating a vaccine, building an engine	Raising a child, poverty alleviation, population control

Working with complexity

Key difficulties in working with complex challenges, and advice on ways of working with these, are listed below:

- It is hard to define the problem(s) and goals for these projects but careful definition is no less important. Don't rush to define the problem or devise a plan to 'solve' it there is no panacea. Fund the thinking; don't rush into service provision if that was the answer we wouldn't still be dealing with these problems^{26,27}.
- Progress can be difficult and is not directly related to effort in a linear way, progress can slow to an almost glacial pace at times, and can hard to measure and attribute. Tenacity is vital.

- Funders must stay open to emergent solutions planning for this work isn't the same as with simple problems, don't over-specify and leave some funding aside as a contingency.
- Initiatives and approaches should be seen as 'better' or 'less bad' and not 'right' or 'wrong' the old language doesn't fit when working on a complex problem.
- Measurement is important and tricky, and attribution very difficult. Have a careful measurement strategy and be sure to thoroughly understand what it is you are measuring and why it is important^{28,29}.Even when things are working well you may not see results for five or more years. Prepare the Board and Working Group for this eventuality.
- Collaboration across boundaries is required, as is working with conflict and diverse agendas. Use knowledge of systems, complexity and change to assist the project to succeed.

Complexity theories and the studies of complex adaptive systems, provide useful insights into why transformational change efforts fail^{30,31,32}. Systems thinking³³ and knowledge about how to <u>fail well</u>^{34,35}, ^{36,37,38} can also be used to assist with this work.

It is worth keeping in mind that learning from these fields of study does not always align with the usual way of thinking about problems. As a result, funders need to be alert to the importance of accepting the unpredictable nature of social change processes³⁹.

What does this mean for Toby?

With the amount available for this project and a long timeframe, JRMT is well placed to choose a complex problem as the focus of the Toby Project. Although this may sound rather tricky, and as these issues have been known to cause paralysis, there is a significant and growing body of knowledge on how to address complex or wicked problems.

"Above all, funders should accept that complex is not synonymous with unmanageable and that there are recognised guidelines that can help maintain a consistent direction at all stages, from choosing an initiative to measuring results." Katharine Pearson, JW McConnell Foundation⁴⁰

The Trust is already using some of these approaches: working with groups across boundaries to encourage collaboration, changing the way we think about difficult issues and working to support change through people living the problem.

Increasing the capacity of JRMT and others to make progress on complex problems is a worthy goal in itself, almost regardless of the progress made on individual projects.

There is a sense in the literature and from speaking with informants that the focus on improving how we work with complexity is not a passing fad, and that skills required for this work could be further developed through working with evaluators skilled in developmental evaluation. Aiding Trustees, the Toby Working Group and or staff members at the JRMT to build on skills in this area may also be worthwhile.

Focusing upstream

There are a number of levels on which individuals, groups and agencies might reduce harm:

- *Downstream:* Coping with the consequences of harm by attending to specific individuals. Examples: Surgery to repair heart damage following a cardiac event, hip replacements.
- *Midstream:* Aim to mitigate the effects of harms which have already occurred or are likely to occur through a focus on groups and individuals considered 'at risk' or vulnerable. Examples: 'green prescriptions' for those patients who are overweight, remedial reading programmes for children whose reading skills would benefit from improvement.
- Upstream: Aim to prevent harm before it occurs or reduce the risk of harm. The focus here is usually on populations and systems. This kind of prevention works best from the bottom up but this can be challenging. The reasoning is that unless we focus on this, we will be locked into meeting immediate (downstream) needs in an environment where this is harder and harder to fund within

public and private budgets⁴¹. Examples: Insulating state houses, encouraging people to walk to workⁱⁱ.

There a number of advantages associated with focusing upstream, including that it creates better conditions for building human capabilities, improves use of limited public resources, reduces downstream costs and helps guard the future for later generations⁴². In addition to these already compelling advantages, it is interesting to note that some thinkers in this area believe that choices which don't reduce future need may be unethical⁴³.

However, while there is almost unanimous agreement in principle about the importance of investing in prevention, this often doesn't translate into spending reprioritisation. Even in areas such as crime, health and early childhood, secondary prevention has generally been favoured over primary prevention⁴⁴.

Even in the area of healthcare where prevention is perhaps more advanced, only a small proportion of expenditure is spent on prevention. In the UK only 4% is invested into prevention⁴⁵ while in New Zealand it has been estimated that 5.9% of health expenditure in 2009 was devoted to prevention, with a total of 4% spent in the area of 'public health'⁴⁶.

While a number of barriers have been identified to upstream intervention, none of these negate the need for this work. Barriers include:

- People are often already committed to helping those who are already needy and may see prevention as a diversion
- Rescue and cure have immediate, measureable results and these can be compelling, in part as they are easy to communicate to others, and more emotionally persuasive to funders ('we and our voters can see the difference our funding is making')
- For an indeterminate period of time, whole system spending on all remedies will need to increase (spending to address immediate need *and* spending on prevention) as preventative work takes time to reduce immediate need; this may be difficult, particularly for government
- Prevention is often more challenging: it is complex (see above), may require cross-boundary collaboration, and is harder to measure than mid or downstream activity. Therefore it is politically harder to sell⁴⁷
- The threshold required to initiate a new intervention may be higher for prevention when compared with provision of downstream health services; often measures relate only to financial costs and this can be problematic⁴⁸

What does this mean for Toby?

As noted previously, many people we interviewed and much of the literature reviewed for this paper focused on thinking about moving upstream and the importance of this focus for philanthropy. Criteria for Toby also focus on the importance a preventative focus and on of efficient use of resources.

The JRMT already has a preference for working on midstream or upstream projects and has a long history of funding early intervention.

Although two informants questioned the value of using the 'language of prevention', it would seem useful as a construct for the project even if in practice options may be harder to categorise. A great number of informants mentioned the importance of working on prevention, either directly or through their focus on specific preventative interventions such as early childhood education.

Some suggestions for this work include: being clear about goals; measuring broadly for social, economic and other outcomes; involving a range of people in decision making; and understanding who gains and loses-out as a result of a particular intervention⁴⁹.

ⁱⁱ There are many labels given to these levels of prevention, for example, upstream intervention has been labeled primary or preventative; midstream as secondary or mitigation and downstream as tertiary or coping.

Researchers in this area caution those wanting to focus on prevention that they should pay attention to unintended negative consequences of such work. Introduction of new incentives and policy mechanisms to support prevention can be helpful, as can new ways of measuring the value of prevention⁵⁰. Examples of policy mechanisms supporting prevention might include the government subsidy on insulation for older homes or the introduction of Kiwisaver to assist New Zealanders to save for their retirement.

Research and evaluation

The importance of research, evaluation and measurement was also emphasised by many informants. Much of the literature focused on the crucial nature of these functions in achieving change, including in the identification of critical success factors which make it easier for an initiative to spread.

Terms like research, monitoring and evaluation are used in many ways. To encourage a common understanding of the meaning of these key terms among the Toby Working Group, they are outlined in the table below.

Monitoring	Research	Evaluation
Monitoring is the continuous assessment of an intervention and its environment with regard to the planned objectives, results, activities, and means. This measurement ideally takes place at all levels and may use formal reporting and informal communications. Monitoring enables a stakeholder to review progress and to propose action to be taken in order to achieve the objectives. It identifies actual or potential successes or failures as early as possible and facilitates timely adjustments to operations ⁵¹ . Purpose: To allow focused improvement	The main difference between research and evaluation is that research is usually conducted with the intent to generalise the findings from a sample to a larger population. Evaluation, on the other hand, usually focuses on an internal situation. In other words, research generalizes, evaluation particularizes. Purpose: To investigate and conclude and/or prove ⁵²	Evaluation is a systematic and objective assessment of the design, implementation and outcome of an ongoing or completed intervention ⁵³ . This enables judgements to be made about the value of a programme (of learning) and its effectiveness and/or efficiency in achieving a set of outcomes and other unintended effects ⁵⁴ . Purpose: To learn and improve
Example: See Here (a previous JRMT programme) measured progress towards its goals (recommendations) regularly using a simple 1-10 scale.	Example: See Here commissioned a research project on the effectiveness of prescribing spectacles to children with myopia and hyperopia.	Example: See Here employed a developmental evaluation to aid reflection and learning throughout the project. Findings from this evaluation were distributed to relevant stakeholders on completion of the project.

Even basic monitoring is missing from some community-based initiatives. One initiative in the community known to the author of this report has been operating for 20 years without any kind of monitoring of either how families experience the service or even how many people are receiving it. Volunteers involved are highly committed to their work; they believe they are making a difference, but the people running the programme don't believe they have the skills or time to try and put in place a monitoring system for their programme, let alone do research or raise funds for these activities.

Some government-funded activities were criticised by some informants for being focused solely on measurement of activities or inputs, rather than on measuring impact or outcomes. Part of this was attributed to the difficulties associated with managing risk and short-term focus in government departments. Others attributed it to a lack of understanding of research process and skills around data analysis within government and its contracted providers. This is discussed further on the following page.

"Much in our social support system has been developed without a strong evidence base, and new programmes are entered into without establishing monitoring regimens or defining what success is... As a result, such programmes trap governments in long-term investments of probable marginal or even counter-effective value⁵⁵." Peter Gluckman

What does this mean for Toby?

The focus placed on this area by informants and the literature would suggest that any Toby initiative would do well to incorporate research, evaluation and monitoring. Not all programmes have a strong focus in these areas and those with strong skills in the initiation or management of initiatives are not always skilled in these activities. Capacity building for programme staff may be helpful and/or external support to develop and implement measurement frameworks or conduct research.

Informants were clear that measurement of progress towards social change can prove challenging and that it is important to think carefully about what is being measured, why it is being measured and what measurements mean. Unintended consequences associated with measurement of proxy variables were also mentioned as a real problem.

An umbrella issue for Toby

This section describes options for the project considering factors relating both to the Trust and to the knowledge and wisdom we have tapped into through our data collection process.

Child poverty as an umbrella issue for Toby

As mentioned previously, work on a complex social issue would seem to be a good focus for Toby, given the timeframe for the project and the fund available.

While a number of approaches and important factors were commonly suggested in the literature and interview process (e.g. collaboration, prevention, complexity, research and evaluation) only one subject area was identified by a substantial proportion of informants, either directly or indirectly. This subject area was poverty, particularly poverty as it impacts on children.

By focusing on child poverty as an umbrella issue, the options for the Toby project are narrowed considerably to an issue which is well aligned with both trust-specific and external considerations.

Poverty and/or inequality

In addition to the absolute levels of poverty experienced by many New Zealanders, income inequality was also mentioned by a number of informants, sometimes indirectly or without using the term 'inequality'. Some thinkers, such as Richard Wilkinson (co-author of The Spirit Level) would argue that inequality is in fact the cause of various social issues. New Zealand's income inequality is significant. Our society was once relatively equal but that is no longer the case: in recent decades inequality has increased more quickly in New Zealand than in any other comparable country (though the increase has abated in recent years).

While this section of the paper focuses on child poverty and the reasons for adopting this issue as the umbrella for the Toby project, careful consideration would need to be given, during the project's coming phases, to the interplay between child poverty and inequality and what this means for the Toby project.

What is it about child poverty as an issue which makes it important?

There has been a great deal written on the value of addressing child poverty in NZ and how one might go about it, although much of this focuses on technical solutions. Good examples of local work in this area include the Expert Advisory Group's report on solutions to child poverty (2012), Every Child Counts' paper on eradicating child poverty in New Zealand (2010), the Child Poverty Action Group's paper on how policies are failing our poorest children (2011) and the Public Health Advisory Committee's 2010 report on Achieving effective action on child health and wellbeing.

At considerable risk of providing a second-rate synthesis of information presented by experts in this field, key reasons in support of the adoption of this issue as the focus for Toby are described below.

- 1. **Poverty affects many New Zealand children in a significant way:** There is significant evidence that child poverty exists and that it is causing significant problems in New Zealand. It is a substantial source of disadvantage, affecting many children profoundly for a long period in a number of ways:
 - Estimated by the Office of the Children's Commission to effect 270,000 New Zealand children⁵⁶, there is strong evidence that the problem is real, even without official NZ measures⁵⁷;
 - The problem has significantly worsened since the 1980's regardless of the measures used⁵⁸;
 - Increased child mortality, particularly for Pacific and Māori children^{59,60};
 - Increased morbidity e.g. from respiratory infections, skin conditions⁶¹, poorer mental health;
 - Poverty is associated with higher incidence of child abuse and neglect⁶² and childhood injury⁶³, poorer educational achievement, and increased spending on protective care⁶⁴; and
 - Poverty can leave long-term scars⁶⁵.

2. Poverty is both a cause and an effect and it exacerbates other disadvantages:

- Issues caused by poverty are in-turn causes or contributors to a string of other problems^{66,67,68} (e.g. poor quality housing and overcrowding lead to avoidable hospitalisation for respiratory conditions, stretching limited health resources);
- Some of these issues are known to contribute to future poverty (e.g. poorer access to early childhood education will result in reduced educational outcomes and this will increase the likelihood that a child will be in poverty as an adult);
- Poverty exacerbates other disadvantages (such as those relating to disability for example); and
- Progress on this issue therefore has the potential to multiply the effects of other work.
- 3. Māori are disproportionately affected by poverty, as are other minority ethnic groups, particularly Pasifika populations. For example, 'Child poverty rates differ significantly by ethnicity in New Zealand. Poverty rates (after housing costs) for Māori and Pasifika children are around double those of Pākehā⁶⁹. Given the importance of these groups in New Zealand's future workforce, high rates of poverty among Māori and other groups is an issue which will have significant impact on NZs future economic standing.
- 4. Poverty places a disproportionate burden on young children, particularly younger children who are more likely to be in poverty. New Zealand's relative underinvestment in services and support for the young means this group is already disadvantaged in the current system^{70,71}.
- 5. Poverty has significant effects on the economy as a whole, and on individuals who are not directly affected by poverty themselves⁷². Economic costs of child poverty are estimated at between \$6 and \$8 billion per year and these costs will continue for many years, and will damage our national prosperity if the issue is not addressed)^{73,74}. Downstream remediation of the effects of poverty is expensive and an inefficient use of public and private resources (e.g. avoidable hospitalisation)⁷⁵. The predicted growth in populations experiencing high levels of poverty will likely have negative economic effects.
- 6. Poverty is a moral issue, particularly as children have no control over their situation or circumstances⁷⁶, and one which has human rights implications.
- 7. Not enough progress has been made but now is the time address this issue:
 - Not enough progress is being made on this issue but people with a good understanding of the issue believe progress is possible⁷⁷. They cite NZ's significant improvements in the living standards of older New Zealanders, very few of whom live in poverty^{78,79} and success in achieving and maintaining reduced poverty rates within some European countries⁸⁰ as reasons for their optimism;
 - There is evidence about what works and moving to alleviate poverty by working upstream and intervening early is valuable and has the potential to provide a high return on investment⁸¹; and
 - Many informants believe there is a 'weak tide' developing on this issue, which (while it needs support to grow) indicates ripeness for change.

Fit with JRMT vision, and the opportunity presented by Toby

- This focus is well aligned with the Trust's vision of "a socially just and inclusive Aotearoa New Zealand" with specific focuses on 'disadvantaged children and their families' and 'Māori development'; its strategic goal of "reduced disparities in social outcomes"; and other work that it supports and is undertaking.
- It is also well aligned with Peter McKenzie's vision for Toby, and the principles and criteria that have been developed for the project.
- It lends itself to a long-term approach: it is complex, and improvements will take time and perseverance.

Arguments against adopting child poverty as an issue for Toby

There are a number of arguments which could be made against the choice of poverty as the central focus for the project. These have been paired with counter-arguments below:

• People have 'poverty' fatigue: A significant amount of attention has been paid in recent years to the issue of child poverty yet this issue is seen by a good number of people as intractable. For others the term doesn't hold a great deal of meaning or they may see this issue as too big to address or not an issue for them or 'people like them'.

These perceptions don't negate the fact that this issue is real and change is needed. In order for change to occur work is needed on the fatigue itself.

"Nevertheless, using various approaches to poverty measurement, whether based on relative income thresholds or on rates of material deprivation, child poverty in New Zealand remains a critical social problem." Jonathan Boston⁸²

• *The problem is way too big:* Some may say the problem is too large, and that the Trust couldn't possibly look to making a difference on such a significant problem with its budget.

This comes down to the scope of focus for the project, and not spreading the Trust's limited resources too thinly but instead determining what roles it can play within this field. Addressing child poverty is big and complex, and will require joint effort; but there is no reason to believe that a carefully targeted contribution from Toby can make no difference.

• This issue is too political: Some might argue that the issues of poverty and inequality are inherently political and therefore the Trust should stay away from this area.

While it is true that some parties have taken positions regarding child poverty, there is strong evidence that child poverty is an issue not only for individuals but for society as a whole; it is therefore a matter of considerable public interest. There is an argument that work on this issue will therefore need to transcend party politics to gain traction and create a significant shift.

• There are already significant players in this space: While the number of groups seeking change in this area has grown, particularly over the last 15 years, many informants working inside existing organisations note that further efforts would be valued. In this, as in any field, it will be important to reduce the risk of duplication of efforts and maximise the potential of collaboration.

Concluding comments

New Zealand's child poverty is a significant issue which won't be going away without major shifts in the way we approach, define and address complex problems.

Work on this issue was strongly desirable in the eyes of many informants, it was often assumed to be an obvious option for Toby to consider: "Well of course there is child poverty...and there is...".

Naturally, it won't be possible for the Trust to eliminate poverty and its effects with the funding available – it will take many groups and agencies working over a long period for a shift to occur – this paper suggests that Toby become one of those agents. While this perhaps isn't as attractive as starting something new or doing something for which the complete results can clearly be attributed to the Trust's funding, the resource and particularly the time frame offered by Toby could surely make a significant difference.

While it is proposed that <u>child</u> poverty should be the target for Toby, ultimately improving outcomes for these children as they grow and become adults, the evidence suggests that to affect such change will clearly require work with families. Further work on defining the specific aims for the project (including whether the focus should be on absolute poverty prevention or on reducing inequality) will be a critical factor for the success of the project. Consideration and involvement of Māori and Pasifika in this work will be important as half of all children living in poverty are from these two groups.

It will be also be important for the Trust to ensure its focus is sufficiently narrow within this area to allow its funding to make a difference. The following section begins this work by laying out proposed broad options for Toby within the umbrella issue of child poverty.

The options

This section outlined potential options for Toby which were indicated by informants and the literature and which are well-aligned with the project's principles, the Trust's legacy and interests, and the criteria set out for the project. Three options were presented and analysed in considerable detail in the full paper. A short summary of the original section is included below.

Within this umbrella issue, the following options are suggested for Toby.

1. Lifting the importance of investing in children to one of national value: This option relates to changing the conversations New Zealanders have about investing in children, increasing the value we place on such investments and on preventing future need, and thereby giving policy makers greater permission to support policies which will benefit these children. Success at this task has the potential to positively affect all other work being done to support children in poverty.

2. A collaborative initiative(s) in a geographic area: This initiative would centre on one or more chosen geographic communities, and would see the Trust fund a project focused on achieving 'collective impact'. Collaborative initiatives are notoriously difficult, but involving a diverse group of people (including those 'living the problem') in working on issues of common interest is one approach to creating sustained change.

3. Picking winners: This option concentrates on the selection of specific projects, programmes or people in which to invest on the basis of their demonstrated contribution to child poverty reduction. While some might initially see this option as 'more of the same' for the Trust, there are a number of important differences. Primarily these relate to the possible scope of funding (up to 20 years) and the level of funding. This would give the selected initiative(s) a much greater opportunity to think and act long-term than initiatives funded through JRMT's usual grant-making.

Collaboration outside the boundaries of the project, increasing reach through scale and spread and use of effective measurement, research and evaluation would be key components of this option from the outset.

The first two of these options were selected by the Toby Working Group for further investigation.

Broadly speaking, the Toby Working Group felt that Option 3, described briefly above, is in essence what the Trust is already focused on within its core business. They believe the Trust is likely to move towards longer timeframes in at least some of its grant-making, and that as a result Toby should focus on what was unique about the opportunity and what the Trust could achieve outside its normal activities.

This concludes the text of the edited paper, although selected appendices from the original document, and its glossary, have been retained below.

Glossary

Failing well/Failing forward: This concept is predicated on the view that skilled failure is vital for innovation. This theory sees discussion about failure as a strength, and the organisation or individual's response to failure as key to future success. Processing failure involves understanding it, understanding what successes are contained in the failure, what learning can be taken from the experience and how learning can inform positive changes in future.

Levels of intervention: One can categorise philanthropy as 'upstream' (preventative, immunisation, housing insulation), 'midstream' (green prescriptions from the GP for those who are overweight), or 'downstream' (heart surgery, hip replacements). There are many labels given to these levels of prevention, for example, upstream intervention has been labelled primary or preventative; midstream as secondary or mitigation and downstream as tertiary or coping.

Moving upstream: Moving upstream has been described as moving away from providing goods or services to those people in immediate need, towards the prevention of future need.

Theory of change: A theory of change makes explicit the underlying beliefs and assumptions that guide a change or service provision project and which are believed to be vital to creating change.

Sunset: the closing date for the fund

Spend-down or spend-out: increasing the proportion paid out for grants by spending down capital, with the understanding will shorten the life of the fund, decreasing the term during which grants can be made.

Disruptive change and innovation: Innovations can be divided into two categories, those which are sustaining and those which are disruptive. An example of a disruptive innovation would be a new drug to prevent a significant disease. These innovations may give rise to social change⁸³.

Disruptive innovations can aim to create social change by:

- Creating systemic social change through scaling up
- Meeting a need which is over-served or not served at all
- Offer products and services which are simpler and less costly
- · Generate resources in ways which are initially ruled-out by incumbents
- Are often ignored or disparaged by existing players⁸⁴

Appendix Two: Process for data collection and analysis

Sources of data

1) Board meeting and Toby Working Group meetings

Information was collected from Toby Working Group members and from Board members at meetings as well as selected one-to-one conversations.

2) Semi-structured interviews

A list of potential informants was drafted using initial suggestions from JRMT staff and the Project Manager. The Board and Toby Working Group were asked for suggestions (see previous Toby papers for more information) and a large number of additional suggestions were received from informants themselves. The eventual list of informants was never meant to be representative of any larger group; we just intended to speak with a diverse group of good thinkers who would be able to contribute to our thinking.

The initial list was narrowed on a number of occasions using a set of criteria which had been developed, and based on conversations with a number of trusted advisors. Many more interviews were conducted than we expected, and unlike projects with a more circumscribed brief, significant valuable information continued to be collected right through to the end of the last interview. It was tempting to extend this process even further.

Five interview subjects were interviewed more than once to get further information, and many others were approached following the interview to clarify their statements or seek further information.

Some pre-research was done prior to interviews (not usually allowed in grounded analysis) to ensure interviews could focus on the subjects areas of knowledge and experience. Informant interviews were numbered and key themes coded by interview. These led to the development of a number of ideas (groups of codes) which were then sorted.

Informal feedback

Informal feedback on the project as also passed on to the Project Manager from a number of people.

3) Literature

Sources of written information included papers from academic journals, reports by institutions, philanthropic organisations and community groups and press clippings. We were directed to some of these sources by key informants and they formed part of a limited review of literature, which focused on:

- 1) JRMT's approach, initiatives and intentions
- 2) Trends in the future of work, education, health, demographics
- 3) Social change
 - a. Drivers, creation of
 - b. Complexity
- 4) Spend-down approaches to philanthropy
- 5) Philanthropic approaches
 - a. Prevention and moving upstream
 - b. Collaborative, community based initiatives
 - c. Networking for scale
- 6) Managing risk and failing forward

Further sources were later identified (e.g. child poverty) as the process developed and once a particular issue was identified as a key area of interest for informants:

- 7) Potential areas of focus
 - a. New ideas
 - b. Evidence base
 - c. Syntheses and reviews

Analysis

The process for analysis and development of the options presented within this paper were essentially grounded in the data collected from the sources listed above, with information grouped into those which inform Toby regarding its approach (e.g. what works, gaps, what success might look like, what we know, what's not working, success factors, timing, spend-down) and information about specific areas which may become a focus for the project (e.g. child poverty).

Holding the space of uncertainty

The author of this report made a conscious attempt to suspend the development of conclusions until the end of the interview and literature review process. In this way, the materials and views collected were more likely to lead the development of conclusions. In practice, this means the author of this report didn't start with a hypothesis, rather a number were developed after the information was digested and these were tested against the criteria which had been developed.

Once hypotheses were developed these were firstly shared and discussed with JRMT staff members lain Hines and Sam Caldwell, before this paper was written with the purpose of informing the Toby Working Group with regard to their decision at the end of phase two of the project.

Appendix Six: More detail on spend-down

The spending-down of foundational funds has a relatively long history, particularly in the United Statesⁱⁱⁱ. It is worth noting that the McKenzie Education Found and the Roy McKenzie Foundation were both spend-down funds. This approach to philanthropy has gained more attention in recent years^{iv}. In 2009, a study of 1,074 family foundations based in the United States found that 12% were categorised as spend-down, 25% undecided and 63% perpetuity^v. Spend-down is now a more common approach in the US for newer foundations.

Spend-down Perpetuity Spends down both endowment and Spends only a percentage of the fund (often 5% in the Description income over a set period of time US) each year From an economic perspective, a dollar Placing a high value on protecting the long-term Rationale capital of the endowment will ensure funds can be invested in the community today is worth more than a dollar invested (in the same distributed into the community for the long-term project) tomorrow Can provide funding for a longer period of time for Increases overall funding, distributed over individual projects or causes if that is desired a shorter period, and therefore impact Can change the aims of funding provided to suit the Reduces intergenerational transfer of needs of the community as they change wealth ("the generation which has contributed to the making of a millionaire should be the one to profit by his generosity"^{vi}) Approach may strengthen focus on impact May be easier to honor donor intent Addressing some issues may be timedependent and therefore suited to a spend-down approach e.g. global warming, medical research for a new disease, helping after a natural disaster Some issues require more significant investment to make any progress or achieve any social gains - spend-down can increase the funds available to meet these immediate needs Funds can outlive their purposes where Management costs can be significant – they are often Potential the term for spend-down is longer - i.e. accumulated annually, at between 1-20% of annual drawbacks the issues which one sets about distributions addressing in year 1 may change by the Hoarding funds may impede innovation time year 20 comes around

The following table examines spend-down and perpetual approaches:

ⁱⁱⁱ Such as the Rosenwald Fund, a key spend down fund in the US, established in 1917 and closing in 1948, distributing US\$70M.

^{iv} Famous examples of spend down trusts and foundations include: Atlantic Philanthropies (US\$3.8B, decided to spend down in 2002 by 2020), Andrea and Charles Bronfman Philanthropies, The Beldon Fund (10 years), Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (spend down by 50 years post deaths of founders, established a Giving Pledge movement)

^v This study was conducted by The Foundation Centre

^{vi} A quote from Julius Rosenwald, philanthropist.

Spend-down	Perpetuity
A conservative investment approach may be required to ensure funds are available for use in the short term; this may reduce returns	Perpetual funds can outlive their purpose e.g. Funds setup in perpetuity in the 1950's to help people with polio. Can be expensive and difficult to alter the purpose of the fund
It may still be difficult to honor donor intent where the term for spend-down is longer	Reduces funds available for immediate needs
	Unable to be as flexible, fluid, opportunistic where needs increase above that which is allowed for distribution
	Dollars spent now provide better social return on investment than those spent in the future
	Endowments are structured to protect capital, which often means they do not serve the charitable purpose for periods of time e.g. when income less than inflation This has been the case with Jayar, from which no distributions have been made since 2007

The approach which may be taken to manage a spend-down fund differs from that used with a perpetual fund in a number of key ways:

- Investments are structured to provide even returns (as the shorter life of the fund means it can't weather volatility in the same way a perpetual fund can);
- Depending on the time horizon for the fund (sunset), the investment strategy is likely to incorporate a lower appetite for risk;
- Structuring of the investment may need to allow for significant liquidity to provide flexibility for significant annual distributions, in contrast with an endowment model; and
- Ongoing monitoring of investments may be required, possibly through the establishment of an Investment Committee.

Further reading on this topic can be found below:

- Setting a Time Horizon: How Long Should Your Foundational Giving Program Last? Accessed from http://rockpa.org/document.doc?id=166 on December 4th 2012. Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisers Philanthropy Roadmap.
- Coates P (2008) Structuring the investment portfolio of a limited-life foundation. European Foundation Centre. Effect. Winter 2008. Accessed from <u>http://www.efc.be/programmes_services/resources/Documents/Effect_V2_3_winter2008Coates.pdf</u> on June 11th 2013.
- Spending out: Learning Lessons from Time-Limited Grant Making (2010) Association of Charitable Foundations. Accessed from <u>http://www.acf.org.uk/uploadedFiles/Publications and resources/Publications/Publication repositry/Spending</u> ng%20Out%20February%202010%20-%20for%20web.pdf on November 15th 2012. ACF, February 2010.
- Stone D (2005) Alternatives to Perpetuity: A conversation Every Foundation Should Have. Accessed from http://www.cof.org/files/Documents/Family_Foundations/Perpetuity-vs-Limited-Life/Alternatives-to-Perpetuity-Foundations-That-Decide-to-Spend-Down.pdf on December 4th 2012. National Centre for Family Philanthropy.
- The Power of Now: Spend out Trusts and Foundations in the UK (2010) Institute of philanthropy. February 2010.Accessed from
 <u>http://www.instituteforphilanthropy.org/cms/pages/documents/The Power of%20Now Spend%20Out Tru</u>
 sts_in_the_UK.pdf on February 22nd 2013.
- Thelin JR, Trollinger RW (2009) Time is of the Essence: Foundations and the Policies of Limited Life and Endowment Spend-Down. The Aspen Institute, Philanthropy and Social Innovation. Accessed from

http://www.aspeninstitute.org/sites/default/files/content/docs/pubs/Time%20is%20of%20the%20Essence% 20FINAL_0.pdf on December 10th 2013.

- Renz L and Wolcheck D (2009) Perpetuity or Limited Lifespan How do Family Foundations decide? Accessed from <u>http://foundationcenter.org/gainknowledge/research/pdf/perpetuity2009.pdf</u> on December 15th 2012. The Foundation Centre.
- Ostrower F (2009) Limited Life Foundations: Motivations, Experiences and Strategies. The Urban Institute. Accessed from <u>http://www.urban.org/uploadedpdf/411836_limitedlifefoundations.pdf</u> on December 4th 2012. Centre on Nonprofits and Philanthropy.
- Oechslie CG (2012) 30 Years of Giving While Living: Our Final Chapter. The Atlantic Philanthropies. Accessed from http://www.atlanticphilanthropies.org/news/30-years-giving-while-living-our-final-chapter on the 15th of December 2012. 10th of July 2012.
- McKenzie on Nonprofits: A Non-Profit Goes for Broke. (2006) An in-depth look at problems facing senior managers. Published by the McKinsey quarterly. September 2006. Accessed from http://www.atlanticphilanthropies.org/learning/case-study-nonprofit-goes-broke on December 4th 2012.
- Frumkin P, Didier C, Klenke D. (2010) Move Over 5% and Let Mission Drive. Accessed from http://www.rwbaird.com/bolimages/Media/PDF/Whitepapers/Mission-Drive.pdf on December 4th 2012. Baird and Co Incorporated.
- Do I Spend down or Form a Foundation in Perpetuity? (No date) The Bridgespan Group. Accessed from http://www.givesmart.org/job/FAQ-Philanthropy-Spend-Down-vs-Perpetuity.aspx on 15th November 2012. Collaborating to accelerate social impact.
- Conn C (2007) Philanthropy: Robbing the Grandchildren. Accessed from <u>http://csi.gsb.stanford.edu/robbing-grandchildren</u> on December 14th 2012. Stanford Social Innovation Review. Summer 2007.
- Jansen PJ, Katx JM (2002) For nonprofits, time is money. The McKinsey Quarterly, 2002 Number 1, pp 124-33.

Endnotes

² Hanna J. (2010) The Hard Work Measuring Social Impact. Accessed from <u>http://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/6401.html</u> on January 21st 2013. Harvard Business School working knowledge. June 14, 2010.

³ Measuring What Matters: the Challenge of Quantifying Social Change (2009) Metropolitan Group. Accessed from <u>http://www.scoop.it/t/impact-measurement/p/3996266227/measuring-what-matters-the-challenge-of-quantifying-social-change</u> on June 13th 2013.

⁴ JR McKenzie Trust (2010) Our Strategy 2010-2014. Wellington, New Zealand.

⁵ Hurst A (2012) Five Levels for Social Change. Stanford Social Innovation Review. Accessed at <u>http://www.ssireview.org/blog/entry/five_levers_for_social_change_part_1</u> on May 15th 2013.

⁶ Leadbetter C and Wong A (2010) Learning from Extremes. CISCO Systems. Accessed from <u>http://www.cisco.com/web/about/citizenship/socio-economic/docs/LearningfromExtremes_WhitePaper.pdf</u> on 23rd November 2012.

⁷ Leadbetter C and Wong A (2010) Learning from Extremes. CISCO Systems. Accessed from <u>http://www.cisco.com/web/about/citizenship/socio-economic/docs/LearningfromExtremes_WhitePaper.pdf</u> on 23rd November 2012.

⁸ Chalmers, D. (2013). <u>Social innovation: An exploration of the barriers faced by innovating organizations in the social economy</u>, *Local Economy*, 28(1), 17-34.

⁹ Statistics New Zealand (2010) National Ethnic Population Projections 2006 (base) – 2026. Wellington

¹⁰ The Future of Work <u>http://www.time.com/time/specials/packages/article/0,28804,1898024_1898023_1898169,00.html</u>

¹¹ Massey University (2013) Defining New Zealand, New Zealand in 2050:The Shape of the Nation we are becoming. Issue 23, January 2013. Accessed from http://definingnz.com/pdfs/definingnz_lan_2013.pdf on 20th February 2013.

¹² Breeze B (2010) How donors choose charities – Findings of a study on donor perceptions of the nature and distribution of charitable benefit. Centre for Charitable Giving and Philanthropy. Occasional Paper 1. University of Kent. Accessed from http://www.alliancemagazine.org/members/pdfs/howdonorschoosecharities.pdf on 20th January 2013.

¹³ Satelli G (2013) Before You Innovate, Ask the Right Questions. Harvard Business Review, Blog Network. February 11th 2013. Accessed from http://blogs.hbr.org/cs/2013/02/before you innovate ask the ri.html on June 19th 2013.

¹⁴ Ellis F (no date) Looking at big pictures through small windows. Reflections on work for the Millfield House Foundation. England. Send via personal communication to J Digby, May 2013.

¹⁵ Rittel HWJ and Webber MM (1973) Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning. Policy Sciences 4 (1973), p 155-169. Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam. Accessed from

http://www.uctc.net/mwebber/Rittel+Webber+Dilemmas+General Theory of Planning.pdf on 25th May 2013.

¹⁶ Spradlin D (2012) Are you solving the right problem. Harvard Business Review. The Magazine. September 2012. Accessed from <u>http://hbr.org/2012/09/are-you-solving-the-right-problem/</u> on April 14th 2013.

¹⁷ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

¹⁸ Grey S and Sedgewick C (2013) The democratic reality for New Zealand's community and voluntary sector. Summary Document: Fears, constraints, and contracts. Victoria University. Wellington.

¹⁹ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

²⁰ Brodhead T. (2013) Innovation: Austerity's Grandchild. The Philanthropist. Accessed from <u>http://www.thephilanthropist.ca/index.php/phil/article/view/955</u> on February 15th 2012. Volume 25:1.

²¹ Ellis F (no date) Looking at big pictures through small windows. Reflections on work for the Millfield House Foundation. England. Send via personal communication to J Digby, May 2013.

²² Australian Public Services Commission (2007) Tackling Wicked Problems – A Public Policy Perspective. Contemporary Government Challenges. Australian Government. Accessed from <u>http://www.apsc.gov.au/publications-and-media/archive/publications-archive/tackling-wicked-problems</u> on May 13th 2013.

²³ Stace H (2011) Tackling wicked problems: lessons from autism policy. Health Services Research Centre. School of Government. Victoria University of Wellington. Accessed from

http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/events/downloads/2011/Tackling%20wicked%20problems6Mayfinal.pdf on May 15th 2013.

¹ Social Change Defined (no date) accessed from http://www.cliffsnotes.com/study_guide/Social-Change-Defined.topicArticleId-26957,articleId-26951.html on February 20th 2013. Cliffs Notes.

²⁴ Adapted from GroupSmith (no date) Technical Problems vs Adaptive Challenges. Accessed from

http://www.groupsmith.com/uploads/file/technical%20problems%20vs%20%20adaptive%20challenges.pdf Hiefetz and Donald L Laurie "The Work of leadership" Harvard Business Review, January-February 1997; and Ronald A Hiefetz and Marty Linsky, "Leadership on the Line", Harvard Business School Press, 2002.

²⁵ Westley F, Zimmerman B, and Quinn Patton M (2006) Getting to Maybe: How the World has Changed. Random House, Canada.

²⁶ Ellis F (no date) Looking at big pictures through small windows. Reflections on work for the Millfield House Foundation. England. Send via personal communication to J Digby, May 2013.

²⁷ Ellis F (no date) Change and how it happens. Send via personal communication to J Digby, May 2013.

²⁸ Measuring What Matters: the Challenge of Quantifying Social Change (2009) Metropolitan Group.

²⁹ Hanna J. (2010) The Hard Work Measuring Social Impact. Accessed from <u>http://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/6401.html</u> on January 21st 2013. Harvard Business School working knowledge. June 14, 2010.

³⁰ Lacayo V (no date) What Complexity Science Teaches Us About Social Change. MAZI Articles. Accessed from http://www.communicationforsocialchange.org/mazi-articles.php?id=333 on 24th April 2013.

³¹ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

³² Kotter JP (2007) Leading Change: Why transformation efforts fail. Harvard Business Review. Accessed from file:///C:/Users/OEM/Documents/SkyDrive/Toby/Reading%20for%20scoping%20paper/Leading%20Change%20%C2%A0Why%20Transf ormation%20Efforts%20Fail%20-%20Harvard%20Business%20Review.htm on March 10th 2013. January 15th 2007.

³³ McCarthy D (2009) Introduction to Systems Thinking: Systems and Innovation. SPCOM 491 Leadership for Social Innovation. Waterloo Institute for Social Innovation and Resilience. Accessed from <a href="http://sig.uwaterloo.ca/highlight/introduction-to-systems-thinking-systems-and-innovation-presentation-systems-thinking-systems-and-innovation-presentation-systems-thinking-systems-and-innovation-presentation-systems on January 15th 2012. January 2009.

³⁴ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

³⁵ Good A (2012) Introduction to Failing Forward Activities. Accessed from <u>http://www.mcconnellfoundation.ca/en/resources/multimedia/video/building-on-failure-learning-when-things-go-wrong on January 14th</u> 2013.

³⁶ Maxwell JC (2000) Failing Forward: Turning Mistakes into Stepping Stones for Success. Thomas Nelson. Nashville, Tennessee.

³⁷ Maddock M (2012) If you have to fail – and you do – fail forward. Forbes. Entrepreneurs. 10th October 2012. Accessed at http://www.forbes.com/sites/mikemaddock/2012/10/10/if-you-have-to-fail-and-you-do-fail-forward/ on May 29th 2013.

³⁸ Matta NF, Ashkenas RN (2003) Best practice: Why Good Projects Fail Anyway. Harvard Business Review – on Point Article. Accessed from <u>http://rapidresultsinstitute.info/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Why-Good-Projects-Fail-Anyway-HBR.pdf</u> on Mary 14th 2013.

³⁹ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

⁴⁰ Pearson KA (2007) Accelerating our impact: Philanthropy, Innovation and Social Change. The JW McConnell Family Foundation. Accessed from http://angoa.org.nz/docs/Accelerating_our_Impact.Pearson.pdf on the 15th of April 2013.

⁴¹ Coote A and Harris M (2012) The Wisdom of Prevention: Long-term planning, upstream investment and early action to prevent harm. Accessed from <u>http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/entry/the-wisdom-of-prevention</u> on January 15th 2013. New economics foundation (nef) April 2012.

⁴² Coote A and Harris M (2012) The Wisdom of Prevention: Long-term planning, upstream investment and early action to prevent harm. Accessed from <u>http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/entry/the-wisdom-of-prevention</u> on January 15th 2013. New economics foundation (nef) April 2012.

⁴³ Richardson A (2009) Investing in Health. A briefing paper for the Canterbury District Health Board. Canterbury District Health Board. Christchurch. Accessed from http://www.cph.co.nz/Files/InvestingInPublicHealth.pdf on May 15th 2013.

⁴⁴ Gough I (2012) Prevention Working Paper. Understanding prevention policy: A theoretical approach. New Economics Foundation.

⁴⁵ Coote A and Harris M (2013) The Prevention Papers. Upstream investment and early action to prevent harm: Building Knowledge and breaking down barriers. Accessed from http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/the-prevention-papers on January 15th 2013. New economics foundation (nef) January 2013.

⁴⁶ Richardson A (2009) Investing in Health. A briefing paper for the Canterbury District Health Board. Canterbury District Health Board. Christchurch.

⁴⁷ Coote A and Harris M (2012) The Wisdom of Prevention: Long-term planning, upstream investment and early action to prevent harm. Accessed from <u>http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/entry/the-wisdom-of-prevention</u> on January 15th 2013. New economics foundation (nef) April 2012.

⁴⁸ Richardson A (2009) Investing in Health. A briefing paper for the Canterbury District Health Board. Canterbury District Health Board. Christchurch.

⁴⁹ Kersley H and Coote A (2012) Prevention Working Paper – Valuing prevention: Returns on long term investments in early intervention. New Economics Foundation.

⁵⁰ Coote A and Harris M (2013) The Prevention Papers. Upstream investment and early action to prevent harm: Building Knowledge and breaking down barriers. Accessed from http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/the-prevention-papers on January 15th 2013. New economics foundation (nef) January 2013.

⁵¹ Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 1998 Guidelines for programme design, monitoring and evaluation, Helsinki: Department for International Development, at <u>http://global.finland.fi/julkaisut/yleis/pdme/index.html</u> on April 14th 2012. p 45.

⁵² Oxford English Dictionary (2010) Oxford Dictionary Publisher: Oxford University Press. Accessed from http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/english/research?g=research on November 11th 2013.

⁵³ Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 1998 Guidelines for programme design, monitoring and evaluation, Helsinki: Department for International Development, at http://global.finland.fi/julkaisut/yleis/pdme/index.html on April 14th 2012. p 45.

⁵⁴ Dolley, Thorpe and the Finland Ministry for Foreign Affairs cited in Butcher N. (2004) Handbook B1: Using programme monitoring in research and evaluation. Commonwealth of Learning.

⁵⁵ Gluckman P (2011) Towards better use of evidence in policy formation – a discussion paper. A report from the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor. Office of the Prime Minister's Science Advisory Committee.

⁵⁶ Expert Advisory Group on Solutions to Child Poverty (2012) Solutions to Child Poverty in New Zealand - Evidence for action. Accessed from http://www.occ.org.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/10151/Child Poverty Report Web.pdf on the 14th of January 2013. Office of the Children's Commissioner. Wellington.

⁵⁷ Boston J (2013) The Challenge of Securing Durable Reductions in Child Poverty in New Zealand. Policy Quarterly, Volume 9, Issue 2, May 2013. Accessed from http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/files/d90960ef6cf.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁵⁸ Boston J (2013) The Challenge of Securing Durable Reductions in Child Poverty in New Zealand. Policy Quarterly, Volume 9, Issue 2, May 2013. Accessed from <u>http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/files/d90960ef6cf.pdf on June 14th 2013</u>.

⁵⁹ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts. "A child growing up in a low-income household has on average a 1.4 times higher risk of dying during childhood than a child from a high income household."

⁶⁰ Craig L (2012) The Children's Health Monitor. 2012 Update. New Zealand Child and Youth Epidemiology Service. Accessed from http://www.nzchildren.co.nz/document_downloads/Childrens%20Social%20Health%20Monitor%202012%20Update.pdf on June 14th 2013. p47.

⁶¹ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁶² Wynd D (2013) Child abuse: what role does poverty play? Child Poverty Action Group. Auckland. Accessed from http://www.cpag.org.nz/assets/Publications/130610%20CPAG%20Child%20Abuse%20Report%201%20June%202013.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁶³ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁶⁴ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁶⁵ Expert Advisory Group on Solutions to Child Poverty (2012) Solutions to Child Poverty in New Zealand - Evidence for action. Accessed from http://www.occ.org.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/10151/Child Poverty Report Web.pdf on the 14th of January 2013. Office of the Children's Commissioner. Wellington.

⁶⁶ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁶⁷ Boston J (2013) The Challenge of Securing Durable Reductions in Child Poverty in New Zealand. Policy Quarterly, Volume 9, Issue 2, May 2013. Accessed from http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/files/d90960ef6cf.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁶⁸ Wynd D (2013) Child abuse: what role does poverty play? Child Poverty Action Group. Auckland. Accessed from http://www.cpag.org.nz/assets/Publications/130610%20CPAG%20Child%20Abuse%20Report%201%20June%202013.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁶⁹ Expert Advisory Group on Solutions to Child Poverty (2012) Solutions to Child Poverty in New Zealand - Evidence for action. Accessed from <u>http://www.occ.org.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/10151/Child Poverty Report Web.pdf</u> on the 14th of January 2013. Office of the Children's Commissioner. Wellington.

⁷⁰ Public Health Advisory Committee (2010) The Best Start in Life: Achieving effective action on child health and wellbeing. Accessed from http://nhc.health.govt.nz/publications/phac-pre-2011/best-start-life-achieving-effective-action-child-health-and-wellbeing on November 15th 2012. A report to the Minister of Health. Prepared by the Public Health Advisory Committee.

⁷¹ Compared with other OECD countries or compared with investment in older children and adults.

⁷² The cost of troubled families (2013) Department for communities and local government. London, January 2013.

⁷⁴ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁷⁵ Every Child Counts (2010) Eradicating child poverty in New Zealand. Every Child Counts.

⁷⁶ Expert Advisory Group on Solutions to Child Poverty (2012) Solutions to Child Poverty in New Zealand - Evidence for action. Accessed from http://www.occ.org.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/10151/Child Poverty Report Web.pdf on the 14th of January 2013. Office of the Children's Commissioner. Wellington. P5

⁷⁷ Expert Advisory Group on Solutions to Child Poverty (2012) Solutions to Child Poverty in New Zealand - Evidence for action. Accessed from http://www.occ.org.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/10151/Child Poverty Report Web.pdf on the 14th of January 2013. Office of the Children's Commissioner. Wellington.

⁷⁸ Dale MC, O'Brien M, and St John S (2011) Left further behind: how policies fail the poorest children in New Zealand. Accessed from <u>http://www.cpag.org.nz/assets/sm/upload/jq/66/v2/dv/WEB%20VERSION%20OF%20LFB.pdf</u> on December 15th 2013. Child Poverty Action Group.

⁷⁹ Dale MC, O'Brien M, and St John S (2011) Left further behind: how policies fail the poorest children in New Zealand. Accessed from <u>http://www.cpag.org.nz/assets/sm/upload/jq/66/v2/dv/WEB%20VERSION%20OF%20LFB.pdf</u> on December 15th 2013. Child Poverty Action Group.

⁸⁰ Boston J (2013) The Challenge of Securing Durable Reductions in Child Poverty in New Zealand. Policy Quarterly, Volume 9, Issue 2, May 2013. Accessed from http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/files/d90960ef6cf.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁸¹ Heckman J (2008) The Case for Investing in Disadvantaged Young Children. Accessed from <u>www.heckmanequation.org</u> on May 16th 2013.

⁸² Boston J (2013) The Challenge of Securing Durable Reductions in Child Poverty in New Zealand. Policy Quarterly, Volume 9, Issue 2, May 2013. Accessed from http://igps.victoria.ac.nz/publications/files/d90960ef6cf.pdf on June 14th 2013.

⁸³ Christensen CM, Bauman H, Ruggles R, Sadtler TM (2006) Disruptive Innovation for Social Change. Harvard Business Review, December 2006. Accessed from <u>http://hbr.org/2006/12/disruptive-innovation-for-social-change/ar/1</u> on 15th April 2013.

⁸⁴ Christensen CM, Bauman H, Ruggles R, Sadtler TM (2006) Disruptive Innovation for Social Change. Harvard Business Review, December 2006. Accessed from <u>http://hbr.org/2006/12/disruptive-innovation-for-social-change/ar/1</u> on 15th April 2013.